Case 2021AP001095 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-05-2021 Page 1 of 19

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

DISTRICT IV COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

**FILED** 

10-05-2021

Appeal No. 2021AP001095

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TARAS O. HALIW,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE TODD J. HEPLER, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

TARAS O. HALIW, Defendant-Appellant

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

A. Did law enforcement officers have probable cause to believe that the Defendant-Appellant was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of his arrest?

*Trial court.* Yes. The trial court concluded that the Defendant-Appellant's arrest was supported by probable cause.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant does not request that the opinion in this appeal be published, nor does he request oral argument of the issues presented in this case, but stands ready to so provide if this Court believes that oral argument would be useful in the exposition of the legal arguments presented herein.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By a Notice of Intent to Revoke filed in the Columbia County
Circuit Court on March 11, 2019, the defendant-appellant, Taras O.
Haliw (hereinafter Mr. Haliw), was charged in Columbia County case
number 19TR1045R with an Implied Consent Law refusal violation,
contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a), as well as companion cases
19CM218, charging Mr. Haliw with operating a firearm while
intoxicated, and 19TR1025, charging him with first offense operating a
motor vehicle while intoxicated, and 19TR3496, charging him with first
offense operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol
concentration.

On January 1, 2020, Mr. Haliw filed a Motion to Suppress – Unlawful Arrest in all matters. On February 28, 2020, a motion hearing was held. The hearing was continued and ultimately resumed and concluded on September 9, 2020. By a written decision dated December 17, 2020, the Court issued a ruling denying Mr. Haliw's

suppression motion. Subsequently, a refusal hearing was held in 19TR1045R on May 24, 2021, at which time the parties stipulated that the Court could rely on the motion hearing testimony in determining the probable cause element of the Implied Consent violation. The trial court found the defendant's refusal to be unreasonable.

By Notice of Appeal filed on May 24, 2021, Mr. Haliw appeals the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress and the judgment in this matter in its entirety.

# **FACTS**

Five witnesses testified at the suppression hearings in this matter. The testimony of these witnesses, taken in turn, reveal the following:

# **DEPUTY MARK SMIT**

On March 9, 2019, Deputy Smit was dispatched in response to a 911 call regarding someone stuck in snow. Upon arriving at a residence at Pleasant View Park Road in the Town of West Point, he observed a truck parked in what he presumed to be a driveway. He observed footprints outside of the vehicle, but did not make any attempt to determine where the respective sets of footprints led, which would have shown in which directions the driver and passenger went (79:19). Nor did he make any attempt to determine whether the driver side prints were consistent with Mr. Haliw's

shoes (79:19). He approached a residence in which Deputy Crary and Edward Owerko were present. Deputy Smit observed Mr.

Owerko to appear intoxicated and was slurring his words (79:8).

Deputy Smit testified that upon speaking with Deputy Crary, he was informed that "Edward said he was not driving and that his friend Taras was the one that drove him home." However, Deputy Crary's own report describing his interaction with Mr. Owerko indicates only that he denied driving, not that Mr. Owerko identified Mr.

Haliw as the driver (79:55).

Deputy Smit then went to the residence of Sharon Osborne, two houses down and made contact with Mr. Haliw. Deputy Smit acknowledged that Ms. Osborne was present and in close proximity during his questioning of Mr. Haliw (79:10-11). According to Deputy Smit, Mr. Haliw then proceeded to tell him that he "parked his car at the top of the hill," even though the vehicle was in fact not "his" at all (79:21). Deputy Smit further states that Mr. Haliw told him that he "got up out of the driver's seat" (79:23). Shortly thereafter Deputy Crary took over the investigation. Deputy Smit acknowledges that within five to ten minutes Mr. Haliw denied

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Counsel for the defendant can honestly say that he doesn't believe that he has ever described exiting a vehicle with such detail as to specify that he got out of "the driver's seat" and would suggest that Deputy Smit's testimony in this regard is lacking in credibility, although his acknowledgment that he could be mistaken is not.

driving to Deputy Crary. Deputy Smit returned to make contact with Mr. Owerko but found him to be passed out (79:8). Despite now knowing that Mr. Haliw was denying driving and that Mr. Owerko was the owner of the vehicle, Deputy Smit made no attempt to confirm or clarify with Mr. Owerko who was actually driving (79: 27).

Deputy Smit admitted that he was equipped with a microphone during his interaction with Mr. Haliw, although the audio and video "was not saved for some reason" (79:11).

### **DEPUTY CRAIG CRARY**

When Deputy Crary responded to the call, he observed a red truck near Mr. Haliw's residence. He observed footprints originating at the driver's side door of the vehicle and followed them to as small cabin where he found Mr. Owerko (79:55-56). While he did observe footprints coming from the passenger side, he did not check to see where they led (79:56). He observed a set of keys, later identified as belonging to Mr. Haliw, but did not determine whether they were for the red truck (79:57). Nor did he ask Mr. Owerko whether the keys belonged to him (79:58). According to Deputy Crary, Mr. Owerko indicated that he was not driving, and that Mr. Haliw was, although, again, Deputy Crary's own report describing his interaction with Mr. Owerko indicates only that he denied

driving, not that Mr. Owerko identified Mr. Haliw as the driver (79:46, 55). During his interaction with Mr. Owerko, Deputy Crary noted that Mr. Owerko informed him that he had been drinking \$2 old fashioneds, yet moments later told the deputy that he had not been drinking (79:52).

Deputy Crary then responded to the Osborn residence and questioned Mr. Haliw. During that interaction, Mr. Haliw never admitted to being the driver (79:59). In fact, when it became evident from Deputy Crary's questioning that he suspected that Mr. Haliw was the driver, Mr. Haliw specifically denied that being the case and stated that Eddy was driving (79:59). Further, when Deputy Crary suggested he had admitted driving to Deputy Smit, he denied that as well. Despite Mr. Haliw denying that he was the driver, and knowing that the truck was registered to Mr. Owerko, Deputy Crary also made no attempt to inquire any further of Mr. Owerko regarding just who actually was the driver (79:59-60).

### **SHARON OSBORN**

As Deputy Smit acknowledged, Ms. Osborne was present during his questioning of Mr. Haliw. She testified unequivocally that Mr. Haliw did not tell Deputy Smit that he drove himself and Eddy home or that he got out of the driver's seat (79:68-69).

# **EDWARD OWERKO**

Mr. Owerko testified unequivocally that he was the driver of the vehicle, his own truck, and that at no time during their visit to Wisconsin did Mr. Haliw drive his truck (41:18, 21).

# **TARAS HALIW**

Mr. Haliw testified unequivocally that he was not the driver, that Mr. Owerko was, and that he at no time stated to anyone that he had been driving (41:31, 35).

# **ARGUMENT**

I. MR. HALIW'S ARREST WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT HE WAS OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF AN INTOXICANT.

# A. Burden of Proof and Standard of Review

When reviewing a circuit court's determination regarding the suppression of evidence, the findings of fact made by the circuit court are to be upheld unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1991). Whether these facts constitute probable cause to arrest is determined by considering the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the arrest. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983); State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 525 N.W.2d 102, 104(Ct. App. 1994); State v. Paszek, 50 Wis.

2d 619, 184 N.W.2d 839, 840 (1971).

An officer, in other words, is not free to pick and choose only those facts which suggest an offense has been committed. Instead, the officer must view the facts in light of ordinary experience and other factors either present or not present. State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 44 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Ct. App. 1989); State v. Wilkes, 117 Wis. 2d 495, 345 N.W.2d 498, 501 (Ct. App. 1984). The facts known to the officer must establish that guilt is more than a mere possibility. Truax, 444 N.W.2d at 435; State v. Cheers, 102 Wis. 2d 367, 306 N.W.2d 676 (1981). Rather, the totality of the circumstances must amount to "that quantum of evidence which would lead a police officer, acting as a reasonable man, to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." Browne v. State, 24 Wis. 2d 491, 503, 129 N.W.2d 175 (1964); State v. McAttee, 2001 WI App 262, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774.

The Fourth Amendment applies to all police contacts. Moreover, the burden of proving that the police contact in this case was lawful is, in all respects, upon the Plaintiff-Respondent. The burden of proving the legality of any police contact, including the lawfulness of an arrest, is always on the government, never on the defendant, and a warrantless arrest is *per se* unreasonable. State v. Verhagen, 86 Wis. 2d 262, 272 N.W.2d 105 (Ct. App. 1978); Leroux v. State, 58 Wis. 2d 671, 207 N.W.2d 589 (1973).

#### **B.** Probable Cause Determination

The trial court characterized the probable cause determination as coming down to a credibility determination (50:2). The court did not make detailed findings of fact in its decision, but did find Mr.

Owerko's testimony to be lacking in credibility (50:2). Rather, the Court simply concluded that:

While at trial the State may struggle to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Haliw drove or operated a motor vehicle, the purported statements made by Mr. Owerko, alleged admission and recantation of driving by Mr. Haliw and the other circumstances attendant thereto established sufficient basis for the arrest and therefore the defendant's motion to suppress is DENIED.

(50:2)

The Defendant-Appellant disagrees. Deputy Smit's testimony forms the only basis from which the trial court could reasonably have concluded that there was probable cause to believe that Mr. Haliw was driving the night of his arrest. Aside from Mr. Owerko's alleged denial of driving, all other evidence adduced at the motion hearing suggests that Mr. Owerko was, in fact, the diver.

Deputy Crary testified that he observed a set of footprints leading from the driver's side of the vehicle to the cabin in which Mr. Owerko was found (79:55-56). Obviously, if Mr. Haliw was the driver, those footprints would have led to him, not Mr. Owerko.

From the very inception of this investigation, physical evidence, the significance of which should have been obvious, pointed directly to Mr. Owerko having been the operator of the vehicle.

Mr. Haliw is not the owner of the vehicle in question, Mr. Owerko's Chevy Silverado (41:18). There is no earthly reason for him to have been driving Mr. Owerko's vehicle. The deputies testified that both parties appeared to be intoxicated, and both admitted to drinking, before Mr. Owerko subsequently blurted out a denial of drinking (79:52). And it is worth noting that Mr. Owerko would have no reason to issue such a denial unless he had a sense of being in some degree of peril regarding intoxicated driving. Given his inconsistencies and condition, there would be no reason for law enforcement or this Court to simply accept his statements the night of Mr. Haliw's arrest at face value.

In contrast, this Court should accept Mr. Owerko's testimony as being credible and accurate. As Wisconsin law recognizes, statements against penal interest carry a unique trustworthiness. To discredit Mr. Owerko's testimony, one would have to believe that Mr. Haliw's spell over him is so strong that he would travel to Wisconsin to testify on Mr. Haliw's behalf (as he did for the February hearing), perjure himself *and* subject himself to prosecution for obstructing an officer. That is not something friends

Case 2021AP001095 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-05-2021 Page 15 of 19

simply do for friends. Mr. Owerko testified that he was the driver of *his* truck because he *was* the driver of his truck.

In its cross examination of her, the State attempted to discredit the testimony of Ms. Osborne by suggesting that she is biased in his favor. Ms. Osborne is a neighboring property owner to Mr. Haliw's getaway cabin. They are on friendly terms and Ms. Osborne clearly respects Mr. Haliw. But there is nothing in the record to suggest that their relationship is such that Ms. Osborne would be anything but entirely honest and transparent with the Court. The State further argued that the contents of her testimony could have been influenced the letter, exhibit 3, Mr. Haliw provided to Ms. Osborne days before the original hearing. However, as exhibit 2 demonstrates, just days after the incident, Ms. Osborne noted that Mr. Haliw *denied* having driven the night of his arrest. Moreover, the affidavit referenced by the State was signed on January 9, 2020, nearly two months before the hearing and is consistent with her testimony at the hearing. Consequently, it is unlikely that Mr. Haliw's supplying Ms. Osborne with his thoughts corrupted her testimony or rendered it inaccurate.

While it would be hard to disagree with the notion that Mr.

Haliw is to some degree biased in his own favor, that is no reason to disregard his testimony. Mr. Haliw, himself a 35-year veteran law

enforcement officer, testified credibly and consistently (41:49). Mr. Haliw testified that Mr. Owerko was the driver of his own vehicle for the same reason that Mr. Owerko testified that he was the driver of his own vehicle – because he was.

That brings us to the testimony of the deputies. Mr. Haliw takes no issue with the bulk of Deputy Crary's testimony. For the most part, it is exculpatory. Mr. Haliw never admitted to driving to Deputy Crary and denied telling Deputy Smit that he had been, as heard through Deputy Crary's squad video mic on exhibit 1. That said, it is worth noting that the one inculpatory alleged statement, Mr. Owerko's denial of driving (which Mr. Owerko does not recall making), appears nowhere in the recording of his conversation with Mr. Owerko (41:21). Taken together, the testimony of the deputies reveals a remarkably shoddy investigation, one incapable of establishing probable cause to believe that Mr. Haliw was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. Between the fundamental failure to put two and two together regarding the driver's side footprint leading to Mr. Owerko rather than Mr. Haliw, fogginess on where exactly this occurred, lighting and weather conditions, inability to accurately identify who was speaking on the video recording, stating that the truck was parked near the residence's garage, when in fact there is no garage (79: 41, 69), failure to examine physical evidence

such as footprints or car keys, the failure to preserve critical audio/video evidence and, more than anything, the failure to recontact Mr. Owerko when it was clear that there was a dispute as to who was driving, this was not a "job well done." To find probable cause to arrest Mr. Haliw on this record would be tantamount to relieving the officers of their responsibility to execute their duties competently.

Furthermore, Deputy Smit's testimony is simply not credible. While prosecutors and officers themselves may characterize law enforcement testimony as being that of a disinterested third party, it would be naïve to believe so. An officer's judgment, and indeed motivations, are "necessarily colored by their primary involvement in the 'often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime.'" <u>Terry v.</u> Ohio, 392, U.S 1, 12 (1968) (quoting United States v. Johnson, 333 U.S. 10, 14 (1948)). There is an implicit incentive to succeed, and the desire to support an arrest and secure a conviction creates a bias against the defendant. Once Deputy Crary told Deputy Smit that Mr. Owerko had denied driving, Mr. Haliw was the target and reports and testimony will inevitably be tailored against him. Whether in the form of embellishing Mr. Haliw's alleged statements with improbably specific, bordering on absurd, admissions, or stubbornly ignoring indications that Mr. Haliw was not driving, or the

inexplicable and undeniably convenient failure to preserve Deputy Smit's recording, it is clear that the arrest of Mr. Haliw was based on unfounded presumption, not probable cause.

# II. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Defendant-Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress and remand this matter for further proceeding.