Filed 11-18-2021

Page 1 of 17

FILED 11-18-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

#### Case No. 2021AP001095

IN THE MATTER OF THE REFUSAL OF TARAS O. HALIW:

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TARAS O. HALIW,

Defendant-Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN COLUMBIA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD J. HEPLER PRESIDING.

#### **BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Respectfully submitted,

STATE OF WISCONSIN, 400 DeWitt Street Portage, WI 53901 (608) 742-9650

BY: Jordan Lippert Assistant District Attorney Columbia County, Wisconsin State Bar No. 1086914

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the Circuit Court clearly err when it found the testimony of Deputy Smit and Deputy Crary to be more credible than the testimony of Taras Haliw, Edward Owerko, and Sharon Osborn?

The Circuit Court answered: The Circuit Court found the testimony of Deputy Crary and Deputy Smit to be more credible than the testimony of Taras Haliw, Edward Owerko, and Sharon Osborn.

2. Did Deputy Crary and Deputy Smit have the requisite level of probable cause to believe that Taras Haliw had been driving a motor vehicle while intoxicated?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication. This case involves only the application of wellsettled law to the facts, which the briefs should adequately address.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Nature of the Case

Taras Haliw appeals from a Circuit Court finding that he improperly refused to submit to a chemical evidentiary test of his blood. The Circuit Court based its findings of fact on testimony presented during evidentiary hearings on February 28, 2020, September 9, 2020, and May 24, 2021.

On appeal, Haliw only argues that police lacked probable cause to request an evidentiary chemical test as required by Wis. Stat. § 343.305 (9) (a) 5. a.

#### II. FACTS

In the Circuit Court, both the State and Haliw recognized that resolution of the issues presented in this case hinged upon the Circuit Court's credibility determinations and findings of fact. R. 48 In deciding the issues presented in favor of the State-and against Haliw-the Circuit Court implicitly found that the testimony of Deputy Craig Crary and Deputy Mark Smit was credible and the testimony relied on by Haliw was not credible. R. 48 See, Jacobson v. Am. Tool Companies, Inc., 222 Wis. 2d 384, 390, 588 N.W.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 1998) ("If a circuit court does not expressly make a finding about the credibility of a witness, we assume it made implicit findings on a witness' credibility when analyzing the For that reason, unless specifically noted evidence."). otherwise, the State will set forth the facts of this case below by supplementing the facts contained in the Court's written decision with relevant portions of the testimony of Deputy Craig Crary and Deputy Mark Smit.

There was a significant snowstorm on March 8-9, 2019. R. 48. On March 8, 2019 Taras Haliw and Eddie Owerko traveled from Chicago to the Ukranian Youth Club near Baraboo and then to the Waddle Inn, an establishment in Lodi. R. 48 Both Haliw and Owerko were drinking alcoholic beverages<sup>1</sup>. R. 48 Haliw testified that he drank four or five shots of alcohol at the Ukrainian Club and maybe a beer or two in addition to two old fashioneds at the Waddle Inn. R. 48.

In the early morning hours of March 9, 2019 law enforcement received a 911 call regarding a vehicle stuck in the snow. R. 48. Deputy Crary arrived on the scene first. Near the truck Deputy Crary found footprints and an area where it appeared as though someone had fallen in the snow after exiting the driver's seat. R. 79 at 41-42. Deputy Crary found several pill bottles bearing Haliw's name in the area where it appeared as though a person had fallen. R. 79 at 442.

The footprints followed a single path before forking off in different directions further down the yard. R. 79 at 44. Deputy Crary followed one set of footprints to Haliw's house. R. 79 at 45. There, Deputy Crary found Mr. Owerko. R. 79 at 45. Deputy Crary spoke with Owerko for a brief period of time. During this conversation, Owerko denied driving and, instead, informed Deputy Crary that Haliw had been driving. R. 79 at 45.

In the meantime, Deputy Smit had arrived in the area and proceeded to Sharon Osborn's nearby residence. R. 48 There Deputy Smit found Haliw. R. 48. Deputy Smit interviewed Haliw in Ms. Osborn's residence. R. 48. During the interview Haliw informed Deputy Smit that he (Haliw) had driven to his (Haliw's) cabin after leaving a bar. R.48, R. 79 at 10. Haliw went on to say that he had gotten out of the driver's seat of the truck. R. 79 at 10.

Deputy Crary soon arrived and began to investigate whether Haliw had been driving under the influence of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court explicitly found Owerko's testimony that they (Owerko and Haliw) only had two drinks was not credible.

intoxicant as Deputy Smit stood by. R. 79 at 18. It was at this time that Haliw changed his statement and began denying that he had driven the truck. R. 79 at 26.

Haliw exhibited indications of intoxication such as bloodshot eyes, slow and slurred speech, poor balance, and had an odor of intoxicants. R. 48. Crary attempted to begin field sobriety test instructions, but Haliw refused to perform any tests. R. 79 at 15. Deputy Crary placed Haliw under arrest. R. 79 at 14. Later, Deputy Crary read the "Informing the Accused" document to Haliw. R. 64 Haliw improperly refused to provide an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. R. 64.

## III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Columbia County District Attorney's Office a misdemeanor charge (in Columbia County Circuit Court Case #: 19CM218) as well as civil forfeiture charges while intoxicated while also prosecuting actions for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense), Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (1<sup>st</sup> Offense), and improperly refusing to submit to an evidentiary chemical test on March 9, 2019. R. 79 at 3.

In the Criminal and OWI cases, Haliw filed a motion alleging the Deputy Crary lacked probable cause arrest Haliw for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. R. 24. The motion sought to suppress statements of the defendant, physical evidence obtained during a search incident to arrest, and evidence of the blood draw and blood analysis. R. 24

The Court heard testimony on the suppression motion on February 28, 2020 and September 9, 2020. R. 41, R. 79. On December 17, 2020 the Circuit Court entered a written decision denying the suppression motion. R. 48. On May 24, 2021 the Circuit Court took further evidence in the Refusal matter and found that Haliw improperly refused to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood<sup>2</sup>. R. 60.

## ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals should review the Circuit Court's determination of historical facts with deference and should only overturn historical facts if the Circuit Court was "clearly erroneous." In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 21, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 586, 815 N.W.2d 675, 680. The Court should then review the application of those historical facts to the constitutional and statutory legal principles independently. Id.

For the purposes of this appeal, the Court must determine whether police had "probable cause" to believe that Haliw was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. Wis. Stat. § 343.305 (9) (a) 5. a. In the context of an improper refusal to submit to an evidentiary chemical test, "probable cause" is "that quantum of evidence 'within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest that would lead a reasonable law enforcement officer to believe that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant." In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, at ¶ 10 (quoting State v. Lang, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 19, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 766 N.W. 2d 551).

Somewhat importantly for this appeal, the State's burden of persuasion at a refusal hearing is substantially less than at a suppression hearing. <u>State v. Wille</u>, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 681, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994). At a suppression hearing, the State must establish probable cause to a "reasonable certainty." <u>State v. Nordness</u> 128 Wis. 2d 15, 36,

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The record in this case does not appear to contain a transcript of the May 24, 2021 hearing.

381 N.W. 2d 300, (1986). But, at a refusal hearing, the State need only establish the plausibility of an officer's account of probable cause. <u>State v. Wille</u>, 185 Wis. 2d at 681.

A refusal hearing is not "a forum to weigh the state's and the defendant's evidence" <u>State v. Nordness</u>, 128 Wis. 2d at 36. "We do not allow the trial court to weigh the evidence between the parties." <u>Id</u>.

In this case Haliw appeals from a final order that he improperly refused to take an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. And, "a refusal hearing is distinct from a hearing that may be held in the prosecution of a separate OWI or PAC charge such as a suppression hearing." In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, at ¶ 68 (J. Ziegler concurring). The issues that a defendant may raise at a refusal hearing are limited by statute. Wis. Stat. § 343.305 (9) (a) 5. There is no statutory authority or procedure that would allow the a defendant to suppress evidence prior to a refusal hearing. Id.

So, while the Circuit Court took evidence in this matter in the context of a deciding a motion to suppress that was properly filed and heard in the course of criminal and civil traffic prosecutions, this court should not apply a standard of review that is greater than the Defendant is entitled to in the context of the refusal itself. That is, this court should review the evidence only with an eye to whether the State has established the plausibility of the officer's account establishing probable cause. <u>State v. Wille</u>, 185 Wis. 2d at 681.

## II. THE COURT DID NOT CLEARLY ERR IN FINDING THE TESTIMONY OF DEPUTY SMIT AND DEPUTY CRARY TO BE CREDIBLE.

## A. HALIW DOES NOT ARGUE THAT ANY PARTICULAR FACT FOUND BY THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

Haliw's failure to grapple with the standard of review unnecessarily complicates this appeal. In particular, the Defendant does not make any cogent argument that the Circuit Court's findings were clearly erroneous. This comes in spite of the fact that Haliw cites <u>State v. Richardson</u>, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 456 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1991), for the proposition that the Circuit Court's factual findings must be upheld unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. Def. Br. at 7. Instead, Haliw asks this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's credibility determinations and reweigh the evidence piecemeal and arrive at new factual findings. Def. Br. at 10, 11, 12, 13.

Haliw fails to appreciate that the Court of Appeals must accept the credibility determinations made by the Circuit Court and the reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. <u>Cogswell v. Robershaw Controls Co.</u>, 87 Wis. 2d 243, 249-50, 274 N.W. 2d 647 (1979). Only after accepting all of the credibility determinations and reasonable inferences drawn by the Circuit Court can the Court of Appeals examine whether the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence supports a different finding of fact. <u>Noll v.</u> <u>Dimiceli's, Inc.</u>, 115 Wis. 2d 641, 643-44, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983).

None of Haliw's various piecemeal credibility arguments amount to a description of clear error. That is reason enough for this Court to deny Haliw's appeal for failing to develop an argument. <u>See, State v. Pettit</u>, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W. 2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

## B. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ATTEMPT TO REASSESS WITNESS CREDIBILITY IN THE ABSENCE OF A COMPLETE RECORD.

Additionally, as the appellant. it is Haliw's responsibility to provide a complete record as to all issues he raises on appeal. Joseph Hirschberg Revocable Living Tr. v. City of Milwaukee, 2014 WI App 91, ¶ 12 n.5, 356 Wis. 2d 730, 855 N.W.2d 699. A significant portion of the February 28, 2020 evidentiary hearing in this matter consisted of the playing of an audio video recording of Deputy Crary's contact with Owerko and Haliw. R. 79 at 47-48. The recording, Exhibit #1, does not appear to be in the record before the Court of Appeals. Haliw argues that Exhibit #1 does not capture Owerko's denial of driving. Defendant's Br. at 12. This Court should assume that the recording supports the findings, including the credibility findings, of the circuit court. Joseph Hirschberg Revocable Living Tr. v. City of Milwaukee, 2014 WI App 91 at ¶ 12 n.5.

## C. OWERKO TOLD DEPUTY CRARY THAT HALIW HAD BEEN DRIVING

Deputy Crary testified that Owerko identified Haliw as the one who had driven the truck to the residence. R. 79 at 45-46. Haliw argues that this Court should discard this fact (which was impliedly accepted as fact in the Circuit Court). App. Br. at 12. To make this argument, Haliw misstates the testimony of Deputy Crary concerning the contents of his report (the report is not in the record on appeal).

Haliw argues that "Deputy Crary's own report describing his [Deputy Crary's] interaction with Mr. Owerko indicates only that he [Mr. Owerko] denied driving, not that Mr. Owerko identified Mr. Haliw as the driver." Def. Br. at 2.

But this argument ignores the testimony during the hearing that indicates that Deputy Crary did, in fact, document in his report the fact that Mr. Owerko placed the Defendant behind the wheel.

Q. In your report you state that you asked Edward how they got back to the residence, and "He informed me he was not driving"; that's what is in your report?

A. Correct.

Q. In your report that you wrote -- well, let me -- was this report written soon after this incident?

A. How soon are you looking for?

Q. Days? A week?

A. I believe it was done that night.

Q. Okay.

A. Or, you know, within that 24-hour period.

Q. Okay. All right. And in that report you never mention Eddy specifically saying that Taras was driving?

A. Believe it is -- would be on the next page.

Q. Okay. You informed Taras that "Ed told me that Taras was driving"?

A. Correct.

R. 79 at 54-55.

The Court did not clearly err when it found Deputy Crary's testimony to be credible.

# D. HALIW ADMITTED THAT HE HAD BEEN DRIVING.

Deputy Smit testified that Haliw admitted driving the truck from the bar to the location on top of the hill. R. 79 at 10. Haliw testified that he never made any such statement. R. 41 at 35-36. In denying Haliw's motion to suppress, the Court clearly found that Deputy Smit's testimony was more credible. R. 48 ("Ultimately, both the State and the Defendant recognize that this case comes down to credibility determinations. The Defendant asks the Court to find his testimony credible and the testimony of the deputies lacking in credibility and the State asks the Court to find the opposite.") From that fact alone, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court judgement in this case. Haliw's sole argument is that police did not have probable cause to believe that he had been driving. App. Br. at 9. That argument disintegrates if one accepts, as this Court must, Deputy Smit's testimony that the Haliw initially admitted to being the one who drove from the Waddle Inn to the cabin.

## E. CRARY TESTIFIED THAT FOOTPRINTS CONVERGED INTO A SINGLE PATH AFTER THE BODY IMPRESSION WHERE PILL BOTTLES WERE FOUND

Haliw also misstates the testimony as it relates to the footprints in the snow. Haliw argues that Deputy Crary followed a set of footprints that led from the driver's seat of the truck to Owerko's location. App. Br. at 5. This assertion is contradicted by the testimony in the record.

First, Deputy Crary testified that he found medication bottles with the Defendant's name on them in an area where it appeared that someone had fallen in the snow immediately after emerging from the driver's seat. R. 79 at 55. Based on the physical evidence found in the area outside of the driver's side of the truck, it is reasonable to conclude that the Haliw had emerged from the driver's seat of the truck and dropped medication bottles during a fall. (Why would Mr. Owerko have Mr. Haliw's medication bottles?)

Second, while Deputy Crary testified that he initially did not realize that there were two separate sets of footprints.

Q: All right. That's fine.

So after making these observations, what did you do next?

A: I followed the footprints down to a small cabin that was next to the residence that the red truck was parked in the driveway to.

Q: Was there more than one set of footprints?

A: Eventually, as you got further down into the yard, yes.

#### R. 79 at 44.

Deputy Crary further clarified that two sets of footprints converged into a single path—exactly as one would expect two people to behave when struggling to navigate unusually deep snow. R. 79 at 42-43. The Defendant's argument that Deputy Crary followed the same set of footprints that emerged from the driver's seat to Owerko's location the house is simply unsupported in the record. The Circuit Court did not make an explicit finding of fact on this point. R. 48. Given the various inferences that can be drawn from this testimony, at a minimum, this Court should not find that that the Court erred when it credited the testimony of Deputy Crary and Deputy Smit.

## III. DEPUTY CRARY AND SMIT HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT HALIW HAD BEEN DRIVING WHILE INTOXICATED.

In this case, Deputy Crary and Deputy Smit responded to a 911 call regarding a vehicle stuck in the snow. R. 48. Owerko told Deputy Crary that Haliw had been driving recently. R. 79 at Deputy Crary further learned from Deputy Smit that Mr. Haliw had himself admitted to having driven a nearby pickup truck to its present location. That quantum of information was more than sufficient for Deputy Crary to reasonably believe that Mr. Haliw had been driving.

When coupled with Mr. Haliw's outward signs of intoxication, Mr. Haliw's statements concerning his drinking, and Mr. Haliw's refusal to perform standardized field sobriety tests, Deputy Crary had probable cause to place the Mr. Haliw under arrest for Operating a Motor Vehicle while Intoxicated. <u>See, State v. Mallick</u>, 210 Wis. 2d 427, 433-34, 565 N.W.2d 245 (Defendant's refusal to perform standardized field sobriety tests may be used as consciousness of guilt evidence); <u>State v. Felton</u>, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 9, 824 N.W.2d 871 (odor of intoxicants used as evidence for probable cause of intoxication); <u>State v. Reese</u>, 2014 WI App, 27 ¶13, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 397 (unsteadiness used as evidence for probably cause of intoxication).

#### CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the Circuit Court's judgment of conviction.